FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/24/2022 2:33 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/25/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100960-7

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEANETTE STOFLETH,

Petitioner,

٧.

## 733 LAKESIDE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION,

Respondent

On Appeal from Division 1, Court of Appeals of the State of Washington

No. 831836

# PETITIONERS' MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION TERMINATING REVIEW

Treated as a Petition for Review

HERRMANN LAW GROUP Anthony Marsh, WSBA #45194 505 5<sup>th</sup> Ave S., Suite 330 Seattle, WA 98104

## **

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

(1) Did the Appellate Court conflict with prior precedent in affirming the ruling of the Superior Court?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This lawsuit arises from a car versus pedestrian crash that occurred at the 733 Lakeside Condominiums on June 12, 2019. See Appendix A, Declaration of Anthony Marsh with Exhibits at Appendix 0006. Jeanette Stofleth was a resident-renter, who was exiting through the parking lot across a well-known pedestrian egress. *Id.* at 0007.

Defendant Cosgrave was driving a vehicle, heading into the parking lot of the building. *Id.* at 0008. She was a resident of the building. *Id.* at 0010. She hit Plaintiff, causing serious injuries to her leg and hip, needing surgery to fix. *Id* at 0009. Defendant was traveling less than 10 miles an hour at the time of the crash. *Id.* at 0010. Plaintiff suffered serious emotional distress as a result, and has been diagnosed with PTSD. *Id.* at 0015.

The subject property was constructed around 1968. See Appendix B. The original builders submitted plans to the City of Kirkland and were approved for construction. *Id.* Some changes have been made to the parking garage over the years, including the addition of trash bins that coexist among the parking spaces in the garage. See Appendix A at Appendix 0013. Some of those are within the parking structure, and some are immediately outside, contemplating pedestrian traffic all throughout the overall structure of the parking garage, inside and out. *Id.* at 0013-0014.

In assessing potential fault of the Defendant, Plaintiff retained expert witness Gary Norris. Gary Norris is a civil engineer with over 40 years of experience in the field. See Appendix C, Declaration of Gary Norris with Exhibits at Appendix 0042-0044. Part of his experience includes reviewing projects such as this one for code compliance

and compliance to general safety guidelines. See Appendix A at Appendix 0018. His report analyzed the subject property and found various elements that failed to meet relevant standards, which he subsequently clarified in his deposition would have been true either by the standards of when the building was built or at the time of his deposition. See Appendix C at Appendix 0046; See also Appendix C at Appendix 0037.

The Defendant/Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment asserting, among other things, that it had no duty, that it had not breached that duty, and the Plaintiff had no competent evidence of either. That motion was granted by the Trial Court. The Plaintiff/Respondent brought a motion to enter judgment to facilitate complete review of this decision before a trial on the merits was had.

A panel of Division 1 held that there was no duty owed by Defendant/Respondent 733 to Plaintiff.

### ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), provides the Supreme Court should accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

RAP 13.4(b). Each of these factors supports this Court's acceptance of review of the superior court's orders in this case.

### I. Standard of Review

## 1. Appellate Review of Summary Judgment

On an appeal from a summary judgment order, an appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Cary v. Mason County, 173 Wn.2d 697, 272 P.3d 194 (2012). On appeal from summary judgment, the appellate court considers the same evidence that the trial court considered. Baechler v. Beaunaux, 167 Wn. App. 128, 272 P.3d 277 (Div. 3 2012). Because the trial court does not resolve factual disputes, it does not enter findings in relation to a summary judgment. Walker v. Wenatchee Valley Truck and Auto Outlet, Inc., 155 Wn. App. 199, 229 P.3d 871 (Div. 3 2010), review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1027, 241 P.3d 413 (2010) Appellate courts "review summary judgment orders de novo, considering the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party". Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080, 1085 (2015).

## 2. Summary Judgment Generally

Summary judgment is only properly granted when there is "no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). "A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the case depends, in whole or in part." Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp., 111 Wn. App. 771, 780, 48 P.3d 324, 330 (2002), as amended on reconsideration (May 30, 2002) (citing Morris v. McNicol, 83 Wn.2d 491, 494, 519 P.2d 7 (1974)). "A genuine issue of material fact exists where reasonable minds could differ on the facts controlling the outcome of the litigation." Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). "In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court must consider the material evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom most favorably for the nonmoving party." Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 104, 108, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977). Further, summary judgment is appropriate "only if, from all the evidence, a reasonable person could reach only one conclusion," Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301, 305 (1998). If undisputed facts are subject to reasonable conflicting inferences, summary judgment is improper. Kelley v. Tonda, 198 Wn. App. 303, 393 P.3d 824 (Div. 1 2017) ("[s]ummary judgment procedures are not designed to resolve inferential disputes") (quoting Sanders v. Day, 2 Wn. App. 393, 468 P.2d 452 (Div. 1 1970)). Summary judgment is inappropriate where the existence of a legal duty depends on disputed material facts. Afoa v. Port of Seattle, 176 Wn.2d 460, 296 P.3d 800 (2013). Genuine issue of material fact exists, for summary judgment purposes, where reasonable minds could differ on the facts controlling the outcome of the litigation. Ranger Ins. Co v. Pierce County, 164 Wn.2d 545, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). "Summary judgment is ... improper if the issue at bar requires the weighing of competing, apparently competent evidence, in which case this court will reverse and remand for a trial to resolve the factual issues." Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap County, 188 Wn. App. 1, 352 P.3d 807, 816 (Div. 2 2015). Even where the evidentiary facts are undisputed, if reasonable minds could draw different conclusions from those facts, then summary judgment is not proper. Security State Bank v. Burk, 100 Wn. App. 94, 995 P.2d 1272, 1277, 41 U.C.C. Rep. Serv. 2d 319 (Div. 2 2000).

## 3. Negligence Actions Specifically

Negligence is ordinarily a factual issue, precluding summary judgment. See, e.g., Brown v. Stevens Pass, Inc., 97 Wn. App. 519, 984 P.2d 448 (Div. 1 1999) (whether operator of ski resort was negligent). "Once a duty is established, any issues of fact regarding breach of duty and whether breach was a proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries are normally left for the fact finder." Johnson v. State, 77 Wn. App. 934, 937, 894 P.2d 1366 (1995). Summary judgment has often been precluded because the

trier of fact needed to determine whether something was reasonable or whether a person acted reasonably. *See, e.g., Van Noy v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 98 Wn. App. 487, 983 P.2d 1129 (Div. 1 1999), *aff'd*, 142 Wn. 2d 784, 16 P.3d 574 (2001).

These deferential standards of review militate toward accepting review; matters of law such as summary judgment motions are not afforded the same deference as findings of fact, assuming review is taken. Further, the transparency afforded by a reviewing court in arriving at conclusions of law makes analysis and correction easier. This allows for an appellate court to reach the correct result.

# II. The Division 1 Panel Incorrectly Applied Its Cited Precedent

The panel's opinion is 8 pages, and only about two and a half are dedicated to analyzing the issue. Only two cases are explicitly discussed at length. In the discussion of both cases, the panel applies an incomplete analysis, inconsistent with the cases, which leads to the incorrect result.

Before it discusses any case at length, it makes a very important rule citation.

Lakeside is liable to an invitee if Lakeside: knows or by exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to the invitee; should expect that the invitee will not discover or realize the condition, or will fail to protect themselves against it; and fails exercise reasonable care to protect the invitee from the danger. *Kamla v. Space Needle Corp.*, 147 Wn.2d 114, 125-26, 52 P.3d 472 (2002) (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343 (AM. LAW INST. 1965)).

In Kamla, the Court was analyzing whether or not a landowner should be responsible for dangers it should have been aware of. *Id.* at 126. Specifically, they framed the inquiry as: "[...] whether Space Needle should have anticipated Kamla's harm, despite the obvious hazard posed by the moving elevators." Id. In the case at bar, this precedent was incorrectly applied because it shows that the key inquiry is what the landowner should have anticipated, not what they were necessarily actually on notice of. *Id.* In this case, Gary Norris has testified any reasonable civil engineer or property manager should have been on notice to the dangers in failing to implement generally accepted standards of practice, including ensuring adequate sight lines, designated pedestrian walkways, and aides such as mirrors. Appendix C at Appendix 0046. Plaintiff/Petitioner was a lay person with zero operating knowledge of these potential dangers, unlike the Plaintiff in Kamla.

Next, with respect to Boeing Co. v. State, 89 Wn.2d 442, 446, 572 P.2d 8 (1978), the Court completely ignored Petitioner's citation to Wright v. Kennewick, 62 Wn.2d 163, 381 P.2d 620 (1963). Wright explicitly notes that the actual notice requirement is only a requirement with respect to public entities. Id. at 167 ("The rule is that a city must have (a) notice of a dangerous condition which it did not create, and (b) a reasonable opportunity to correct it before liability arises for negligence from neglect of duty to keep the streets safe.") Therefore, it is not merely enough to say that Defendant/Respondent had no actual notice based on a prior event, and therefore, there is no liability. Kamla explicitly states that the inquiry is whether the landowner knew or should have known. 147 Wn.2d 114. In fact, as Petitioner has shown through her expert, any reasonable property manager and/or civil engineer should have been aware of the hazard. See Appendix C at Appendix 0038

Next, the panel turns to *Ruff v. King County*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). The very quote cited in the opinion shows the difference with the case at bar. In *Ruff*, the Plaintiff's expert testified that "all roads can be hazardous." *Ruff*, 125 Wn.2d at 706 n.5. He based that opinion on general standards in the industry. *Id.* Petitioner's expert does not make very general assertions like in *Ruff*. Instead, he identifies specific and articulable

problems that are directly related to issues of pedestrian/vehicle conflict of the kind that gave rise to the injury to Petitioner.

Further, the panel completely disregarded the language in *Ruff* which goes to the sufficiency of a *warning* of the hazardous condition, as a duty independent of a duty to fully remediate a potentially hazardous road. *Id.* at 706.

Next, the Panel cites to the incorrect standard when they seek to analyze whether the location is *inherently* hazardous. That is not the inquiry. As noted above in *Kamla*, the inquiry is whether a landowner knew or should have known that the area posed a danger. Petitioner's experts testified based on specific experience, as well as specifically identifiable problems, that they should have known of the danger. Appendix C at Appendix 0046

Finally, the Court states without further explanation that the opinion is speculative. As Petitioner pointed out in her original briefing, that is not the case. Mr. Norris' opinion is based on specific, articulable deficiencies in the all of which structure, are centered around pedestrian/vehicle conflicts. *Id.* Further, the panel identifies the speculation with respect to identifying the *causation* of the dangerous condition to the incident. That is distinct from the threshold analysis which concerns duty. Because this analysis inappropriately mixes various elements of a

negligence claim not directly at issue in this appeal, the Supreme Court should take the case to clearly resolve the dispute.

### CONCLUSION

The Division One Panel's analysis is cursory, inconsistent, and incorrect. The Washington Supreme Court should accept review to resolve the inconsistencies in the lower Court's opinion.

I certify the foregoing contains 2210 words in compliance with RAP 18.17(c)(1)