FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/30/2022 1:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100960-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 83183-6-I

JEANETTE STOFLETH, an individual,

Petitioner-Plaintiff,

v.

KRISTINA COSGRAVE and “JAMIE DOE” COSGRAVE,
and the marital community comprised thereof; 733 LAKESIDE
CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, a non-profit corporation,

Respondents-Defendants.

733 LAKESIDE CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel L. Syhre, WSBA #34158
Attorney for 733 Lakeside
Condominium Association
Betts Patterson & Mines
One Convention Place, Suite 1400
701 Pike Street
Seattle WA 98101-3927
E-mail: dsyhre@bpmlaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent Lakeside Condominium Association, defendant below, asks this Court to decline to accept review of the Court of Appeals Decision.

II. RESPONSE TO PETITIONERS' ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with precedent at any level. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed summary judgment dismissal because the Lakeside parking garage complied with all applicable building codes at the time of construction and there was no evidence Lakeside was on notice of any relevant unsafe condition.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant facts of the case are accurately stated in the opinion of the Court of Appeals.

IV. ARGUMENT

At the outset, it is important to note that Petitioner does not claim that the Court of Appeals misstated a legal rule for determining whether a duty is owed to an invitee. Instead,

Petitioner finds fault with the application of a correctly stated rule to the facts of her case. The nature of this alleged error counsels against acceptance of review because the decision is not precedential and does not recite an incorrect rule of law.

Moreover, there is no actual error of any kind the opinion. The Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioner failed to prove Lakeside knew or should have known of any dangerous condition that resulted in her accident. The court correctly stated the applicable standard for finding a duty as follows:

An owner of a building has a general duty to provide a safe premises. *Fredrickson v. Bertolino's Tacoma, Inc.*, 131 Wn. App. 183, 189, 127 P.3d 5 (2005). The duty of care the possessor or property owes is based on the common law classification of the person as an invitee, a licensee, or a trespasser. Assuming, without deciding, that Lakeside owed Stofleth the highest duty of care as an invitee, she failed to carry her burden on summary judgment to show that there were disputed issues of material fact. Lakeside is liable to an invitee if Lakeside: knows or by exercise of reasonable care would discover the condition and should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to the invitee; should expect that the invitee will not

discover or realize the condition, or will fail to protect themselves against it; and fails exercise reasonable care to protect the invitee from the danger. *Kamla v. Space Needle Corp.*, 147 Wn.2d 114, 125-26, 52 P.3d 472 (2002) (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 343 (AM. LAW INST. 1965)).

Plaintiff primarily argues that the Court of Appeals should have applied the standard applicable to “open and obvious” dangers discussed in *Kamla v. Space Needle Corp.*, 147 Wn.2d 114, 126, 52 P.3d 472 (2002). There, the Court stated

A landowner is liable for harm caused by an open and obvious danger if the landowner should have anticipated the harm, despite the open and obvious nature of the danger. Properly framed, the question in this case is whether Space Needle should have anticipated Kamla's harm, despite the obvious hazard posed by the moving elevators. The trial court dismissed this claim on summary judgment, stating, "the defendant is not liable for plaintiff's failure to avoid an open, obvious potential hazard about which he was aware and warned."

Id. While the Court of Appeals cited *Kamla* for the general standard for business invitees, the specific test in *Kamala* is not directly applicable because it is designed to address a situation

where a danger is open and obvious to everyone and the issue is not whether the landowner knew or should have known of the danger, but instead whether the landowner should have anticipated that people might fail to avoid the danger despite its open and obvious nature. Here, no one contends that the Lakeside garage contained open and obvious dangers. In fact, that is the problem with plaintiff's case. The supposed hazards of the garage are supported only with highly general expert opinion, and not by reference to any code provision or past incidents demonstrating that Lakeside knew or should have known of any danger.

Plaintiff cites *Boeing Co. v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 443, 446, 572 P.2d 8, 11 (1978), where the court found that the State, as an operator of a public roadway, had a duty to implement technology to alert drivers that there was insufficient clearance for the vehicle under an underpass. This was true despite the lack of commercially available technology or evidence that such devices were in common use. *Id.* The court justified its

holding by stating “We acknowledge this [lack of duty] to be the general rule. However, there are extraordinary situations which may call for extraordinary measures in the exercise of reasonable care.” *Boeing*, 89 Wn.2d at 447, 572 P.2d at 11–12.

The extraordinary circumstances in *Boeing* were the precise circumstances missing here:

Here, the respondent’s evidence showed a past history of frequent accidents in spite of the warning signs posted. It further showed the appellant’s awareness of the need for a more effective warning system and that in other similar circumstances governmental bodies had devised warning systems to meet the problem. This evidence was sufficient to take to the jury the question whether the appellant exercised reasonable care under the circumstances.

Boeing, 89 Wn.2d at 448, 572 P.2d at 12. Here, the parking garage had existed fifty years at the time of the accident without a single prior similar incident.

Petitioner appears to argue that prior notice has less relevance to private property owners than it does to public entities. No case plaintiff cites actually states that a different standard applies.

Plaintiff relies upon *Ruff v. King County*, 125 Wn.2d 697 (1995); *Ruff*, too, is distinguishable. In *Ruff*, the Washington Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's summary judgment in favor of King County because the plaintiff failed to present any evidence that the public roadway was inherently dangerous or deceptive. *Id.* at 706-07. The *Ruff* court acknowledged that the record showed the defendant had not violated any applicable standards or codes, and in fact, the plaintiff did not argue that the municipality had violated any statutes. Rather, the case hinged on whether the roadway was inherently dangerous or deceptive. The plaintiff did not present any evidence to show that the roadway was inherently dangerous or deceptive, except to rely upon expert testimony by the plaintiff's transportation engineering expert, who asserted that the roadway was an "unreasonably dangerous condition '[b]ecause all roadways can be hazardous' . . . [and] based this conclusion on what he stated as 'deficiencies relative to the industry standards.'" *Id.* at 706, see also n.5. The court disregarded these opinions by the

plaintiff's expert, stating that it "cannot find negligence based on speculation or conjecture." *Id.*

It is agreed by the parties that Lakeside's parking garage is compliant with the codes that were applicable at the time it was constructed. More importantly, plaintiff has not presented any evidence that Lakeside knew of the alleged dangerous condition prior to the incident. Unlike the plaintiffs in *Ruff* and *Boeing*, Plaintiff has not presented any evidence of complaints or accidents prior to the subject incident.

Petitioner asserts that the Court of Appeals should have allowed Petitioner's expert to create a duty to install various safety enhancements that were neither legally required nor shown by past experience to be necessary. Plaintiff points to no case that has ever allowed an expert to create such a duty after the fact in the absence of concrete evidence that the defendant actually knew or had reason to know of a hazard. In arguing for the sufficiency of Mr. Norris's vague and esoteric opinions, Petitioner claims that a reasonable civil engineer or property

management company should have been aware of a danger but claims that “Plaintiff/Petitioner was a lay person with zero operating knowledge of these potential dangers.” The problem of course, is that the Association is simply a collection of lay owners. It is not charged with awareness of subtle design norms as if it were an architect or engineer.